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The Secretariat
Senate Legal and Constitutional Committee
Room S1.61, Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600
AUSTRALIA 

20 October 2003

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: Inquiry into the Migration Amendment (Agents Integrity Measures) Bill 2003 

We are writing as Registered Migration Agents to express our concern about a number of aspects of this Bill. Our submission will be brief due to time constraints, but we would be pleased to elaborate further on our concerns should the Committee consider that appropriate.
By way of introduction we advise that we are both registered migration agents who have about 20 years experience in immigration and refugee work in Australia and overseas. We are also both members of the Professional Standards Committee of the Migration Agents Registration Authority (MARA). This submission is made in our private capacities, however, and we in no sense are seeking to represent the views of MARA. 

In many respects, we share the concerns of the Government about agents who lodge vexatious and frivolous applications. As former members of the Government’s review Tribunals in the migration portfolio we have both had to deal with such applications from time to time, and as members of MARA’s Professional Standards Committee we spend a sometimes considerable amount of time dealing with complaints against agents for such conduct. 

We do not, however, agree that the scheme proposed by this legislation is the appropriate way to deal with such conduct by migration agents. 
Our concerns relate to two basic issues:

1. We do not believe that measuring refusal rates for particular visa subclasses constitutes an appropriate means of determining whether an agent is lodging vexatious applications.

2. We do not accept that it is appropriate for the Minister for Immigration (the Minister) or the Department of Immigration (DIMIA) to be responsible for determining whether or not migration agents should be suspended or indeed lose their right to practice. 

1. Using ‘high refusal rates’ as a measure 

There are a number of problems with the use of this as a determining measure for disciplinary action against migration agents. 

Firstly, there are many factors that can cause a migration application to fail, as is indeed recognised in the Explanatory Memorandum. Many of these factors are completely outside the control of the migration agent, such as changes in circumstances of the applicant or other relevant party after the lodgement of the application. Such changes in circumstances can lead to the applicant being unable to meet the ‘time of decision’ criteria required for a particular visa subclass when the time for decision comes, although they may well have satisfied those same criteria had a decision been made at the time of application.

Such factors are not only beyond the control of the agent, but in our experience are in many cases directly due to the conduct of DIMIA. In many overseas posts, for example, processing of visas within the family migration program takes years, and peoples’ circumstances can often change completely between the lodgement of an application and the date for decision.

Changes in factors other than the personal circumstances of an applicant can also lead to the refusal of a visa application. A topical illustration of this arises in relation to the temporary protection visa (TPV) holders currently in Australia. TPV holders can apply for no visa other than a protection visa while in Australia. Many of them apply for a permanent protection visa as soon as they are able to do so, to ensure that their applications are lodged before any changes in the law occur which may disadvantage them further. Many Afghans and Iraqis, for example, lodged protection visa applications with the assistance of migration agents before the invasions of their respective countries by the United States and its allies.

In the view of some within the Government, these invasions and the subsequent ‘regime changes’ mean that it is now ‘safe’ for Afghans to return to their country. Large numbers of Afghan protection visa applicants are accordingly now receiving rejections of their applications from DIMIA.

Our concern about this situation is simply stated, and our submission illustrates the problem with the scheme proposed by this legislation. If a migration agent has lodged 50 protection visa applicants for Afghan TPV holders, and DIMIA rejects all 50 of those applications on the basis that the situation in Afghanistan has changed so that it is now safe to return to that country, how can it be said that the agent has lodged applications which are ‘vexatious’? 

If an application fails because of a fundamental change in circumstances, why should an agent be exposed to the risk of disciplinary action as a result?

Ministerial intervention issues
Another issue which influences an agent’s ‘refusal rate’ is the lodgement of applications which the agent expects to fail, but for which the visa applicant has good prospects for success in seeking Ministerial intervention after the application is rejected by a review Tribunal. 

The Minister has a broad discretionary power to substitute a more favourable decision for an applicant refused by either the Migration Review Tribunal (MRT) or the Refugee Review Tribunal (RRT), under ss.351 and 417 of the Migration Act (respectively). Guidelines for the exercise of that discretion have been issued by the Minister, and in our experience it is quite possible to identify cases which have good prospects for Ministerial intervention although there is no visa application that can be made by an applicant that is likely to succeed. This is one of the unfortunate side effects of the heavy regulation of the law in this area.

It is not uncommon, then, for agents to lodge visa applications that are likely to fail, and to take those matters to the MRT or RRT with the express purpose of accessing the intervention powers of the Minister. 

Again, in our submission, agents should not be exposed to the risk of disciplinary action for assisting their clients to use a system set up by the Minister in this way. Yet under the proposed scheme that is exactly what would happen, as these applications are almost certain to fail at the DIMIA and review Tribunal stages.

DIMIA as the decision-maker in these cases
We have endeavoured above to provide some common examples of matters that can lead to the failure of an application that are outside the control of a migration agent. In so doing, we are well aware that the proposed scheme does not make it mandatory for DIMIA to refer an agent to MARA for sanction simply because their refusal rates are high.

We have a fundamental concern, however, about a scheme in which the power to refer an agent for a mandatory sanction rests with DIMIA rather than with an independent agency such as MARA. We do not believe that it is an answer to that concern to state that the DIMIA decision to refer an agent is subject to review by the AAT. We submit that it is inappropriate for DIMIA to have the primary decision making function about matters affecting the right to practice of a migration agent.
Our objection to this is best stated by way of analogy. The role of a migration agent is to advise and represent his or her clients in their dealings with DIMIA. This of necessity will on occasion bring the agent into conflict with DIMIA. The relationship between the agent and DIMIA is, in essence, the same as that between the police and lawyers who act in criminal matters, or between the ATO and lawyers or accountants who act in tax matters. In our view it would be completely inappropriate for the police or the ATO to have a role in determining the right to practice of the members of the legal and accounting professions who deal with those agencies. The issue for us as migration agents is identical.

Again, we submit that the existence of an avenue for review does not answer these concerns. The effect on an agent’s practice of having to pursue such an option would be severe, although due to the heaviness of the sanctions proposed in the legislation an agent would have no choice but to go to the AAT.

Summary and conclusion
We urge the Committee to take these matters into account in reaching its conclusions about these matters. We believe that the proposed scheme gives DIMIA the ability to sanction a migration agent for conduct well outside the bounds of the vexatious behaviour the Bill purports to target. We submit that it is no answer either to say that the legislation is not intended to be utilised in that way. Such an assurance is easy to give, but impossible to accept. 
As we have stated above, in our democratic system the legal profession would not accept regulation by the police, nor the accounting profession by the Tax Office. For the same reasons, migration agents should not be subject to regulation by DIMIA.

As stated at the outset, we would be happy to elaborate further on these concerns should the Committee so desire.

Yours faithfully,

Bruce Henry 





Lesley Hunt

Registered Migration Agent 
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